IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 83,014

Petitioner,

vs.

MICHAEL WALSH,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

THORNTON, DAVID, MURRAY, DAVIS,
THORNTON & SREENAN, P.A.
BY: KATHLEEN M. O'CONNOR
Florida Bar No. 333761
Attorneys for ARROW AIR, INC.
2950 Southwest 27th Avenue
Suite 100, Grove Professional Bldg.
Miami, Florida 33133-3704
Telephone: (305) 446-2646
Facsimile: (305) 441-23742

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Plaintiff below, Michael Walsh ("Walsh"), a Florida resident, was employed by Arrow as a flight engineer. (App. 7). Arrow is a Florida corporation with its principal place of business in Florida. (App. 7). On May 15, 1989, Arrow terminated Walsh from his employment. (App. 8)

Walsh filed a complaint in Florida for "retaliatory termination," alleging that he was fired as a result of a report he made regarding alleged safety violations on one of Arrow's flights. (App. 8). Because Florida did not recognize a cause of action for retaliatory termination, Walsh attempted to have the trial court apply the New York Labor Code, which does allow such a claim in certain circumstances. (App. 2).

Arrow filed motions to dismiss and strike the complaint for failure to state a cause of action or allege grounds sufficient to invoke the jurisdiction of Florida's courts. The trial court dismissed Walsh's complaint. (App. 2)

On appeal, the District Court of Appeal, Third District, unanimously affirmed the dismissal of Walsh's complaint. Plaintiff moved for a rehearing on June 5, 1991, and Arrow replied. On June 7, 1991 the legislature enacted Section 448.102, Florida Statutes, the "Whistle Blower's Act" applicable to private employment. On November 23, 1992, approximately a year and a half after the motion for rehearing was filed, the Third District entered an order requiring Arrow to file a supplemental brief discussing, among other things, the applicability of newly enacted Section 448.102.

The Act had never previously been raised during the appeal. On May 11, 1993, the Third District vacated its prior affirmance and filed a new opinion. In a 2-1 decision, the court reversed the judgment for Arrow and held that the trial court should decide whether Walsh's complaint stated, or could be amended to state, a cause of action under the Whistle Blower's Act. (App. 6-20) Arrow's motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc were subsequently denied. (App. 21-23)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the District Court of Appeal conflicts with decisions from other district courts of appeal and this Court holding that: (1) a statute which creates new substantive rights or obligations may not be applied retroactively; (2) a statute may not be applied retroactively unless there is a clear and unequivocal expression of legislative intent for retroactive application; and (3) retroactive application of a statute creating new substantive rights and obligations violates a party's due process rights.

ARGUMENT

At the time Walsh was fired by Arrow, on May 15, 1991, Florida courts adhered to the rule that where a term of employment was for an indefinite period of time, either party could terminate the employment at any time, for any cause or no cause at all, without incurring liability. Smith v. Piezo Technology & Professional Administrators, 427 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 1983); Hartley v. Ocean Reef Club, Inc., 476 So. 2d 1327, 1329 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) ("creation of

a cause of action for retaliatory firing of an at-will employee would abrogate the inherent right of contract between employer and employee . . . [and] overrule longstanding Florida law . . .").

Recognizing that the employment at will doctrine was well entrenched in the common law of Florida, Walsh sued Arrow for wrongful discharge pursuant to the New York Labor Code. The complaint was dismissed after the trial court concluded that Florida law applied and the Third District affirmed. While the case was pending for nearly two years on rehearing, the Florida Legislature enacted Section 448.102, Florida Statutes, the Whistle Blower's Act applicable to private sector employment. The Act is a drastic departure from the common law employment at will doctrine and provides, under certain circumstances, for a cause of action for retaliatory discharge and also provides for the recovery of attorney's fees. The Third District, on its own initiative, held in a 2-1 decision that the new Florida statute could be applied retroactively to provide Walsh with a cause of action for a termination that occurred more than two years prior to the statute's effective date.

The impact of the Third District's decision reaches far beyond application of Section 448.102. The holding below provides authority for retroactive application of other statutes which create entirely new causes of action or create entirely new rights to recover attorney's fees. The decision below creates chaos in a heretofore well settled area of case law, as it expressly and directly conflicts with decisions from other District Courts of

Appeal and this Court holding that: (1) a statute which creates new substantive rights or obligations may not be applied retroactively; (2) a statute may not be applied retroactively unless there is a clear and unequivocal expression of legislative intent for retroactive application; and (3) retroactive application of a statute creating new substantive rights and obligations violates a party's due process rights. Based on that express and direct conflict, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to the Florida Constitution, Article V, § 3(b)(3).

A. The decision of the District Court of Appeal conflicts with cases holding that a statute which creates new substantive rights or obligations may not be applied retroactively.

The majority below stated that:

Although the general rule is that statutes creating new rights operate prospectively, Florida Dep't of Revenue v. Zuckerman-Vernon Corp., 354 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1977), the rule is not absolute. 2 Sutherland, Statutory Construction, § 41.01 (4th ed. 1986); 49 Fla. Jur. 2d. Statutes, § 107 (1984).

The majority misstated Florida law in regard to statutes which affect substantive rights and liabilities. A correct statement of Florida law is that: Although the general rule is that statutes operate prospectively, the rule is not absolute. In regard, however, to statutes creating new substantive rights and liabilities, the rule against retroactive application is rigidly enforced. L. Ross, Inc. v. R.W. Roberts Construction Co., Inc., 481 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 1986) (statute which increases substantive obligations cannot be applied to a cause of action in existence on the date of enactment); Young v. Altenhaus, 472 So. 2d 1152 (Fla.

1985) (statute which creates "a new obligation or duty" is substantive in nature and can be applied prospectively only); State v. Lavazzoli, 434 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 1983) (statutes which affect existing rights are presumed to apply prospectively); Larson v. Independent Life & Accident Ins. Co., 29 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1947) (statutes which create new obligations and impose new penalties are "rigidly construed" as being prospective); Recon Paving, Inc. v. Cook, 439 So. 2d 1019 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (substantive statutes are prospective only). The retroactive application of Section 448.102 by the majority below expressly and directly conflicts with each of the cited decisions.

The majority below attempted to avoid application of the well established rule in the cited decisions by holding that Section 448.102 is "remedial" and must, therefore, be given retroactive application. For that proposition, the majority relied upon this Court's decision in Martin County v. Edenfield, 609 So. 2d at 29 (Fla. 1992), holding that Section 112.3187, Florida Statutes, which created a civil cause of action for wrongful discharge of public employees was a "remedial statute designed to encourage the elimination of public corruption . . . " In Edenfield this Court held that Section 112.3187 was remedial solely in the context of determining whether the statute, which was clearly in derogation of common law, should be broadly or narrowly construed. In Edenfield, however, this Court also held that substantive amendments to the Whistle Blower's Act which took effect during the pendency of the case could not be applied retroactively. 609 So.

2d 27, 29, n. 2. The majority's decision below, therefore, conflicts with this Court's decision in *Edenfield*, denying retroactive application of substantive amendments to the Whistle Blower's Act.

While Section 448.102 may be remedial in some senses, it is also substantive because it creates a new cause of action for wrongful discharge in the private sector that was never before recognized under Florida law. This is because the rule that remedial statutes will be applied retroactively does not apply where the remedial act also creates a new cause of action. In City of Lakeland v. Catinella, 129 So. 2d 133 (Fla. 1961), this Court held that remedial statutes relate to remedies or modes of procedure and do not create new or take away vested rights. Id. at 136.

The majority's reliance upon the decision of this Court in City of Orlando v. Desjardins, 493 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 1986), was also misplaced. In Desjardins, this Court gave retroactive application to an amendment to the Public Records Act, noting that the statute was addressed to "[r]emedial rights [arising] for the purpose of protecting or enforcing substantive rights." Id. at 1028. Unlike Section 448.102, the statute did not create a substantive right.

Haven Federal Savings & Loan Association v. Kirian, 579 So. 2d 730, 732 (Fla. 1991) ("[s]ubstantive law has been defined as that part of the law which creates, defines, and regulates rights . . "); Young v. Altenhaus, 472 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 1985) (statute which creates a new obligation or duty is substantive); Recon Paving, Inc. v. Cook, 439 So. 2d 1019 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (by any standard, statute increasing benefits payable under Worker's Compensation Act is substantive legislation).

Although Section 448.102 is remedial in some senses, it also creates an entirely new cause of action and right to attorneys' fees, thereby imposing entirely new liabilities on private sector employers. Consequently, and the statute cannot be applied retroactively to a cause of action that accrued more than two years prior to its effective date.²

The majority below also was of the opinion that Section 448.102 did not actually subject Arrow to any new obligations, because a common carrier always had a duty to use care in the conduct and management of its conveyances. (App. 22) That observation would have merit if the statute in question simply codified a passenger's pre-existing common law right to sue for injuries sustained as a result of safety violations. In regard to wrongful discharge, however, as the Third District correctly noted in its original affirmance below, there was no pre-existing common law right to sue an employer. (App. 2) Section 448.102 is a drastic departure from the common law and its retroactive application conflicts with the decisions cited above holding that a statute creating new substantive rights and liabilities may not be applied retroactively.

The rule against retroactive application should apply with particular force in the case at bar which arises from termination of an "at will" employee. This case is unlike the typical "accident" case where it cannot reasonably said that any of the parties relied upon existing law.

B. The decision of the District Court of Appeal conflicts with cases holding that a statute may not be applied retroactively unless there is a clear and unequivocal expression of legislative intent for retroactive application.

Section 448.102, Florida Statutes (1991) was enacted by the legislature in Chapter 91-285, Laws of Florida 1991. As to an effective date, Section 8 of Chapter 91-285 simply provided that, "This act shall take effect upon becoming a law." The Act was approved by the Governor and filed with the Secretary of State on June 7, 1991, more than two years after Walsh's discharge by Arrow.

The retroactive application of Section 448.102 by the majority below conflicts with decisions of this Court holding that in order for a statute to be applied retrospectively, there must be a clear and unequivocal expression of legislative intent for retroactive application. Walker & LaBerge, Inc. v. Halligan, 344 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1977); Larson v. Independent Life & Accident Insurance Co., 29 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1947).

The decision below conflicts with those cases holding that in the absence of a clear legislative expression to the contrary, a law is presumed to operate prospectively, State v. Lavazzoli, 434 So. 2d 321, 323 (Fla. 1983), and with cases holding that the legislature's specification of an effective date in a statute rebuts any argument that retroactive application of the law was intended, State Department of Revenue v. Zuckerman-Vernon Corp., 354 So. 2d 353, 358 (Fla. 1977).

As aptly pointed out by Judge Gersten in his dissenting opinion below:

Retroactive application of the statute at this stage of the case turns the rule of statutory construction on its head. "It is a well-established rule of construction that in the absence of clear legislative expression to the contrary, a law is presumed to operate prospectively." Walker & LaBerge, Inc. v. Halligan, 344 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1977); Keystone Water Company, Inc. v. Bevis, 278 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1973); Larson v. Independent Life and Accident Insurance Co., 158 Fla. 623, 29 So. 2d 448 (1947).

C. The decision of the District Court of Appeal conflicts with cases holding that retroactive application of a statute creating new substantive rights and obligations violates a party's due process rights.

The decision of the majority below conflicts with numerous cases from other district courts of appeal and this Court holding that retroactive application of a statute which creates new rights or obligations would violate a party's due process rights. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Scherer, 558 So. 2d 411, 414 (Fla. 1990) ("Due process considerations preclude retroactive application of a law that creates a substantive right"); Cantor v. Davis, 489 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1986) (statute which provided for award of attorney's fees in medical malpractice action was unconstitutional as applied to an action which accrued prior to statute's effective date); Young v. Altenhaus, 472 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 1985) (statute which created new obligation or duty could not constitutionally be applied retroactively); McCord v. Smith, 43 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 1949) (retroactive application of statute is invalid where a new obligation or duty is created or imposed); L. Ross, Inc. v. R. W. Roberts Construction Co., 466 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. 5th DCA), aff'd., 481 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 1986) (legislature cannot constitutionally increase an existing obligation, burden or penalty as to a set of facts after those facts have occurred); Stone v. Town of Mexico

Beach, 348 So. 2d 40, 43 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. denied, 355 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1978) (retrospective statute is invalid if a new obligation or duty is imposed or an additional disability is established in connection with previous transaction).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing Petitioner respectfully requests that the Court accept jurisdiction in this case.