IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,014

SID J. WHITE

FEB 14 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ARROW AIR, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

MICHAEL WALSH,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Kelly B. Gelb, Esq. Krupnick, Campbell, Malone Roselli, Buser & Slama 700 Southeast Third Avenue Suite 100 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33316 Telephone: (305) 944-4472 and Barbara Green, Esq. Fla. Bar. No. 264628 Co-Counsel for Appellants 2964 Aviation Avenue, 3rd Floor Coconut Grove, FL 33133 Telephone: (305) 448-8337

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In May, 1989, Michael Walsh, a flight engineer, was fired by Arrow Air, Inc. (Arrow) because he refused to allow one of Arrow's airplanes to fly with a dangerous hydraulic leak. He had reported the leak to the maintenance crew (A.2). The crew later told him they had fixed the leak. But when Walsh reinspected the plane, he saw that the crew had not fixed the leak and it was still dangerous. Against Arrow's wishes, Walsh grounded the flight for five hours (A.3).

Arrow threatened Walsh for reporting the incident and grounding the flight. Three weeks later, Arrow fired Walsh (A.3).¹

Walsh sued Arrow for wrongful termination. The trial court dismissed his complaint. The Third District, on rehearing, held that Walsh had a cause of action under the Whistleblower's Act, \$448.102, Florida Statutes (1991). The court held that \$448.102, together with \$112.3187, Florida Statutes (1986), modified the common law to allow a limited cause of action for wrongful discharge (A.7-8). The court also held that \$448.102 was remedial, and controlled this case (A.10-11).

Arrow now seeks review of that decision in this court.

Law Office of Barbara W. Green - Grove Place, Third Floor - 2964 Aviation Avenue, Coconut Grove, Florida 33133 - (305) 448-8337

¹ As the District Court noted, Arrow has a history of bad maintenance practices. (A.2-3, at n.2). The last time the court focused its attention on Arrow, Arrow had flown an airplane in a dangerous condition, including a leaking hydraulic system (<u>Id.</u>). The resulting crash killed 250 people. <u>Arrow Air v. Connelly</u>, 568 So.2d 448 (3d DCA 1990), rev. denied, 581 So.2d 1307 (Fla. 1991).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Review should be denied, because the decision of the Third District does not expressly and directly conflict with any of the decisions cited by Arrow and because the Third District's decision upholds important public policies of this State.

Every case cited by Arrow is markedly different from this case. Not one of them involves §448.102. Not one of them involves a statute so similar to one which this Court has already held is remedial. Not one of them even involves a statute that is remedial.

The substance/procedure analysis in the cases cited by Arrow is inapplicable here because the statute is remedial. None of the cases cited by Arrow holds that a remedial statute cannot be applied retroactively.

ARGUMENT

This Court's jurisdiction to resolve conflicts in the law is limited to review of decisions which either (1) announce a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this Court or another district, or (2) apply a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same facts as a prior case. <u>Mancini v. State</u>, 312 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1975); see also <u>City of Hallandale v. Chatlos</u>, 236 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1970) (no conflict if statutes are different); <u>Times Publishing Co. v.</u> <u>Russell</u>, 615 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1993) (no conflict if facts are different). This decision does neither.

None of the cases cited by Arrow for conflict involves either the statute at issue here or facts even remotely similar to the facts of this case.

A. No conflict with cases holding substantive statutes are not retroactive.

asserts conflict with cases which hold that Arrow а substantive statute or constitutional amendment cannot be applied retroactively. But whether a statute is substantive or procedural does not always determine whether it can be retroactive. This court has recognized a third category of statutes, those that are remedial. City of Orlando v. Desjardins, 493 So.2d 1027 (Fla. A both substantive remedial. 1986). statute may be and "[R]egardless of whether the statute is procedural or substantive in nature, if the statute is <u>remedial</u> it must be applied retrospectively to serve its intended purpose". Cebrian v. Klein, 614 So.2d 1209, 1212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (emphasis in original); accord, Desjardins, 493 So.2d at 1028.²

The Whistleblower's Act of 1991 is most definitely remedial. It is similar in all material respects to a statute which this Court has already held to be remedial. In <u>Martin County v.</u> <u>Edenfield</u>, 609 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1992), this Court held that the Whistleblower's Act of 1986, §112.3187, Florida Statutes, is a remedial statute. Section 112.3187 does in the public sector what \$448.102, the Whistleblower's Act of 1991, does in the private sector: it prohibits employers from firing employees for specified

² Arrow has misstated what the Court held in <u>City of Lakeland</u> <u>v. Catinella</u>, 129 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1961). The Court actually said: "Remedial statutes <u>or</u> statutes relating to remedies or modes of procedure, which do not create new or take away vested rights, but only operate in furtherance of the remedy or confirmation of rights already existing, do not come within the legal conception of a retrospective law, or the general rule against retrospective operation of statutes" (emphasis added). The Court did not say that remedial statutes are never substantive.

reasons contrary to important public policies, and protects employee efforts to stop or report employer wrongdoing.

Thus, Arrow cannot seriously argue that this statute is not remedial. Consequently, every case which Arrow has cited for conflict on this point is distinguishable, because none of them involves a remedial statute.

L. Ross, Inc. v. R.W. Roberts Constr. Co., 481 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1986) involved an attorney's fees statute that was held to be substantive, not remedial. In fact, the Court expressly acknowledged the rule applied by the Third District in this case: "Remedial statutes are excepted from the general rule against retrospective application of statutes". 481 So.2d 484.

Young v. Altenhaus, 472 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1984) also involved a substantive statute, not a remedial one. Moreover, unlike the Whistleblower's Act at issue here, the statute in <u>Young</u> included an express indication of legislative intent that it <u>not</u> be retroactive. 472 So.2d at 1154.

<u>State v. Lavazzoli</u>, 434 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1983) was also quite different from this case. It involved a criminal prosecution, not civil litigation. The issue in <u>Lavazzoli</u> was retroactive application of a constitutional amendment, not a remedial statute.

Nor does <u>Larson v. Independent Life & Acc. Ins. Co.</u>, 29 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1947) provide conflict. <u>Larson</u> involved a tax statute, not a remedial one. The Court stated no absolute rule against retroactivity. It merely stated that statutes creating new obligations were "more rigidly construed" to be prospective.

Arrow also asserts conflict with <u>Edenfield</u>, the case in which this Court held the Whistleblower's Act of 1986 to be remedial. Arrow incorrectly suggests that this Court held that the statute in that case could not be applied retroactively. But, in fact, the Court did hold amendments to the statute retroactive, but only to a date specified by the legislature. "These amendments, however, were retroactive only to July 1, 1992". 609 So.2d at 29 n.2.

The legislature has set no such limit on the retroactivity of this statute. Therefore, there is no conflict with <u>Edenfield</u>.

Moreover, the statute does not, as Arrow insists, create an entirely new cause of action. Florida has recognized some form of wrongful discharge cause of action for at least eleven years. <u>Smith</u> <u>v. Piezo</u>, 427 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1983); <u>Scott v. Otis Elevator Co.</u>, 572 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1991). The Third District merely applied the cause of action to a new set of facts, never before considered by any Florida court.

This is how the common law usually develops. Even when this Court creates or recognizes a totally new cause of action without legislation, it applies the new common law to cases already pending. For example, in <u>West v. Caterpillar Tractor</u>, 336 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1976), this Court recognized a cause of action for strict product liability and applied it to a pending case. Similarly, in <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 260 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973), this Court applied the new rule of comparative negligence to pending cases in which it was raised. "The fundamental considerations of fairness are surely the same" for the common law as they are for statutory changes. Sutherland, <u>Statutory Construction</u> §41.05 at 370 (1992).

Moreover, the Smith decision pointed out that, when the legislature enacts a statute that requires an act to be done for the benefit of another, or forbids an act which may injure another, Florida law implies a cause of action for the violation of that statute. 427 So.2d at 184. Arrow's alleged acts violate requirements of the common law, statutes and regulations. Thus, Walsh's cause of action is nothing new. As the Third District pointed out (A.7-8,17) Arrow had an obligation to safely carry its passengers. §§860.02, 860.13, Florida Statutes. Moreover, Arrow's threats against Walsh may have constituted violation of §836.05, for which the Civil RICO act may have provided much the same remedy provided here, especially when viewed in light of the facts in Connelly. See §§772.102(1)(a)(22); 772.103; 772.104, Florida Statutes; See also Gough, Wrongful Discharge: Can Rico Come to the Rescue, 61 Fla.B.J. 91 (June, 1987). And, of course, these acts violated Federal Aviation Regulations. Connelly at 450; see also, e.g., 14 C.F.R. §43.5, 43.12, 125.241, 125.243.; Cf. Florida Freight Terminals v. Cabanas, 354 So.2d 1222 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978) (violation of Federal Aviation Regulations is negligence per se).

Firing Walsh was just part of Arrow's continuing pattern of conducting its business by violating safety requirements and covering up the violations. Since Arrow's actions were already forbidden by law before the statute was enacted, it is no great change in the law to hold Arrow accountable in this case.

³ If the court had applied the law of New York, where Walsh grounded the flight, Walsh would have had a claim under §740 New York Labor Laws (McKinney 1989).

B. No conflict with cases regarding legislative intent.

The decision below does not conflict with cases holding that retroactivity requires an expression of legislative intent. None of the cases hold that the "presumption" of prospective application is a conclusive one, or that the legislative intent must always be express, or that it cannot be implied when the statute is remedial.

For example, <u>Larson v. Independent Life & Acc. Ins. Co.</u>, 29 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1947) holds that such legislative intent may be found by implication. <u>Walker & LaBerge, Inc. v. Halligan</u>, 344 So.2d 239, 242 (Fla. 1977) recognizes that remedial statutes can be applied retrospectively regardless of statutory language. <u>State v. Lavazzoli</u>, 434 So.2d 321, 323 (Fla. 1983) recognizes the presumption against retroactivity, but does not hold it irrebuttable. <u>State v. Zuckerman-Vernon Corp.</u>, 354 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1978) merely holds that <u>in that case</u> the retroactivity argument was rebutted -- but it did not involve a remedial statute.

The statute at issue here gives to private sector employees a remedy that was given to public employees in §112.3187, which this Court has already found to be remedial. The presumption of prospective application is rebutted when the statute is remedial. Since this statute is remedial, and the statutes and constitutional amendment at issue in the cases cited by Arrow were not held remedial, the Third District's decision does not conflict with those cases.

C. No conflict with due process cases.

The Third District's decision does not conflict with any of the due process cases cited by the defendants because this statute

is remedial, and because it does not really impose any new duty or obligation on Arrow which it did not already have.

Arrow already had the duty to safely carry passengers; to safely maintain its airplanes; to keep records correctly reflecting that maintenance; to obey FAA regulations; to refrain from threatening anyone with intent to compel him to do any act or refrain from doing any act; and to refrain from conducting its affairs through a pattern of such threats. See p.6, <u>supra.</u> The penalties for Arrow's breach of those duties ranged from civil tort liability to loss of its FAA license to liability for treble damages and attorneys fees under \$772.104. The Whistleblower's Act of 1991 did not change any of that. Therefore, cases in which a new duty or obligation was imposed are inapposite and cannot provide the basis for conflict jurisdiction.

Arrow cannot contend that it had a vested right to violate these laws and regulations without legal consequence. It cannot seriously contend that it relied to its detriment on some supposed right to evade maintenance, record-keeping or safety requirements. It violates no concept of fundamental fairness to hold Arrow accountable in this action for activities it knew were prohibited, or to impose liabilities that were already provided by law.

None of the constitutional cases cited by Arrow involve a situation remotely resembling the facts of this case. Nor did this Court, in any of the cases, hold that a remedial statute like this one could not be applied retroactively.

In neither <u>Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Scherer</u>, 558 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1990), nor <u>Cantor v. Davis</u>, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla.

1986), nor <u>Young v. Altenhaus</u>, 472 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1985) did the Court hold the statutes remedial. There is thus no conflict with these cases.

In <u>McCord v. Smith</u>, 43 So.2d 704, 708-09, (Fla. 1950) the Court held that the statute was remedial, and therefore could be applied retroactively, noting that "a retrospective provision of a legislative act is not necessarily invalid." That is exactly what the Third District did here. The Third District's decision does not conflict with <u>McCord</u>.

D. Discretionary reasons to deny review.

Strong policy reasons militate against review.

For most cases, the District Courts of Appeal are the courts of last resort. The District Courts have had little opportunity to consider this statute. Arrow cites no cases even discussing this statute. It would be premature for this Court to do so before the District Courts have had that opportunity.

Moreover, the decision vindicates important public policy, adopted by the legislature, to encourage employees to try to stop their employers' dangerous, illegal practices. What a court is really saying when it describes a statute as "remedial" is that the court has made a value judgment. It has decided that the policies behind the statute are significant enough to outweigh any possible unfairness in retroactive application. Sutherland, <u>Statutory</u> <u>Construction</u> §41.05 at 368 (1992). That is what the Third District did here. In <u>Connelly</u>, the court found evidence that Arrow "consciously pursued a course of conduct which subordinated passenger and crew safety to concerns for company profits" and of

"routine practices" constituting "flagrant violations" of FAA safety rules. 568 So.2d at 449, 450. Walsh was fired for trying to stop those practices. He should not be denied a remedy. He should be given a medal.

Finally, retroactive application of the statute now does not affect a large number of cases. The statute of limitations is at most four years. In a few months, any attempt to apply the 1991 Whistleblower's Act to a cause of action which accrued before 1991 will be barred by the statute of limitations. There have been no other appellate decisions on this issue since the Third District's decision nine months ago. Thus, there will be no great flood of lawsuits resulting from the Third District's decision.

Conclusion

Respondent respectfully requests this Court to deny review.